Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 11/23/2020 by Regine Ho, Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

No. S262551

v.

RANDOLPH STEVEN ESQUIVEL,

Defendant and Appellant.

Second District Court of Appeal, Division Five, Case No. B294024 Los Angeles County Superior Court No. NA102362 Honorable Jesus I. Rodriguez, Presiding Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MARK R. FEESER ATTORNEY AT LAW State Bar No. 252968 3940-7174 Broad Street San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 805-542-0189 Mark.R.Feeser@gmail.com

ISSUE PRESENTED

This Court has granted review for the following issue: "Is the judgment in a criminal case considered final for purposes of applying a later ameliorative change in the law when probation is granted and execution of sentence is suspended, or only upon revocation of probation when the suspended sentence is ordered into effect? (See also *People v. Shelton*, S262972.)"¹

INTRODUCTION

In September 2015, appellant, Randolph Steven Esquivel, pleaded guilty to one felony count pursuant to a plea agreement. The trial court imposed a prison sentence of five years, which included two, one-year prior prison term enhancements pursuant

¹ Appointed counsel here has also been appointed to represent Randall Alexander Shelton in Case No. S262972, for which this Court granted review on the same question but deferred briefing pending consideration and disposition of the instant case.

to Penal Code section 667.5, subdivision (b).² The trial court suspended the execution of the sentence and placed appellant on formal probation for five years. In 2018, probation was revoked, and the trial court imposed the five-year prison term.

Appellant appealed from the revocation of probation and while his appeal was pending, legislation was enacted to amend section 667.5, subdivision (b). (Sen. Bill No. 136 (2019-2020 Reg. Sess.) § 1, effective Jan. 1, 2020) ("SB 136").) Specifically, SB 136 amended section 667.5, subdivision (b), so that the prior prison term enhancement now applies only if the prior conviction was for a sexually violent offense, thus greatly narrowing the scope of its application. (§ 667.5, subd. (b).) Neither of appellant's prior prison terms was based on a conviction for a sexually violent offense. Appellant thus sought the benefit of SB 136 in the context of his appeal from the revocation of probation.

The Court of Appeal assumed that SB 136 applies retroactively to all non-final cases at the time of its enactment. (See *People v. Esquivel* (Mar. 26, 2020, B294024) [nonpub. opn.] at Slip Op. pp. 12-13.)³ The court, nevertheless, reasoned that SB 136 did not apply to appellant because it found his case became final when the sentence was imposed but suspended, probation was ordered, and he thereafter failed to appeal the judgment. (Slip Op. pp. 13-17.) The issue, therefore, is: whether

² All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.

³ All further references to the Court of Appeal's opinion in this case are designated as "Slip Op."

appellant's case remained a non-final judgment until probation was revoked and the suspended sentence executed?

This Court recently addressed a closely related question in *People v. McKenzie* (2020) 9 Cal.5th 40. There, the defendant pleaded guilty, admitted certain sentence enhancements, and was placed on probation. (*Id.* at p. 43.) Unlike the instant case, however, the trial court suspended both the imposition and execution of the sentence. (*Ibid.*) Probation was later revoked, and while the appeal from the revocation of probation was pending, ameliorative legislation was enacted that, if applicable, eliminated the defendant's sentence enhancements. (*Id.* at pp. 43-44.) In that context, this Court held that the ameliorative legislation applied retroactively because the judgment was not final under *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740 ("*Estrada*") until the sentence was imposed and executed. (*Id.* at pp. 45-52.)

The reasoning of *McKenzie* applies with equal force to cases where probation is granted, the sentence is imposed, and only its execution is suspended. This is because "neither forms of probation—suspension of the imposition of sentence or suspension of the execution of sentence—results in a final judgment." (*People v. Chavez* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 771, 781 ["In the case where the court suspends [only the] execution of sentence, the sentence constitutes 'a judgment provisional or conditional in nature.' [Citation.]"].) Accordingly, appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse the Court of Appeal and remand this case to the trial court to strike the section 667.5, subdivision (b) enhancements and modify appellant's sentence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 8, 2015, appellant was charged with one count of attempting to burn a structure (§ 455) and one count of possession of flammable materials (§ 453, subd. (a)). (CT 34-37) The Information further alleged that appellant served two prior prison terms (§ 667.5, subd. (b)) and that he had one prior strike conviction (§§ 667, subds. (b)-(i); 1170.12, subds. (a)-(d)) and one prior serious felony conviction (§ 667, subd. (a)(1)). (CT 35-36) Appellant's prior prison terms were based on convictions for assault with a firearm (§ 245, subd. (a)(2)) in 2006, and unlawful firearm possession (§ 12021, subd. (a)(1)) in 2010. (CT 35-36)

On September 11, 2015, pursuant to a plea agreement, appellant pleaded no contest to one count of attempting to burn a structure (§ 455) and admitted the related sentence enhancements. (CT 42-45; RT A-1 to A14) The remaining count was dismissed. (CT 43; RT A-21) The prosecution also moved to dismiss the strike and section 667, subdivision (a) enhancements. (CT 45; RT A-20) Appellant was sentenced to a prison term of five years, the execution of which was suspended, and he was placed on five years of formal probation. (CT 43) The suspended sentence was based on the upper term of three years for attempting to burn a structure, plus one year for each of the two prior prison terms. (CT 43; RT A-14) Appellant did not appeal.

On August 13, 2018, a probation report alleged that appellant failed to comply with the terms of his probation and recommended that probation be revoked. (CT 54-55) On August 17, 2018, probation was revoked, and a bench warrant was

issued. (CT 56; RT B-1) On September 24, 2018, the matter was continued pending receipt of a supplemental probation report. (CT 60) A supplemental probation report was filed on October 10, 2018, recommending probation be reinstated. (CT 61, 62-66) On October 30, 2018, the prosecution moved to revoke probation. (CT 67-98)

On November 15, 2018, the trial found that appellant had violated probation, revoked probation, and ordered that he serve the previously suspended sentence of five years in state prison. (CT 100-101, 102) Appellant was awarded 95 days of actual presentence credit and 94 days of conduct credit. (CT 101, 102) Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. (CT 103)

While appellant's appeal was pending, the Legislature amended section 667.5, subdivision (b), significantly reducing the scope of its application. Appellant thus sought the benefit of SB 136 in the context of his appeal from the revocation of probation. (Slip Op. pp. 12-13.) On March 26, 2020, the Court of Appeal affirmed the sentence. (Slip Op. pp. 12-18.)

This Court granted review on August 12, 2020.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

As the facts surrounding appellant's conviction and probation violation are not relevant to the issue for which this Court has granted review, they are only briefly summarized.

UNDERLYING OFFENSE AND ENHANCEMENTS.

On August 7, 2015, appellant poured lighter fluid on the front door of an apartment and on a truck belonging to two victims who had no prior relationship with appellant. Appellant was arrested at the scene and appeared to be intoxicated. (CT 1-25 [transcript of preliminary hearing].)

PROBATION VIOLATION.

While on probation, appellant was arrested for providing false information to a police officer, driving without a license, and theft. (CT 62-63) He was also convicted of domestic violence (§ 243, subd. (e)) (CT 68) and had multiple arrests for violating postrelease community supervision in another case. (CT 62-63)

ARGUMENT

I. FOR PURPOSES OF RETROACTIVELY APPLYING AMELIORATIVE LEGISLATION, A PROBATION CASE IS NOT FINAL UNTIL PROBATION ENDS OR THE SENTENCE IS ORDERED TO BE SERVED.

The Court of Appeal here correctly assumed that SB 136 applies retroactively to all cases that are not final on the date the legislation was enacted. The court, however, erred in finding that SB 136 did not apply to appellant's case upon revocation of probation. The court erred, because petitioner's case was not final until probation was revoked, and the sentence executed.

A. Standard Of Review.

Whether a sentence is final under *Estrada* is subject to *de novo* review. (See *People v. Arroyo* (2016) 62 Cal.4th 589, 593.)

B. SB 136 Applies Retroactively To All Cases Not Yet Final On Its Effective Date.

At the time of appellant's 2015 plea, and where a new felony prison sentence is imposed, former section 667.5, subdivision (b), required the trial court to impose a:

[O]ne-year term for each prior separate prison term, provided that no additional term shall be imposed under this subdivision for any prison term prior to a period of five years in which the defendant remained free of both the commission of an offense which results in a felony conviction, and prison custody or the imposition of a term of jail custody imposed under subdivision (h) of Section 1170 or any felony sentence that is not suspended.

On October 8, 2019, however, SB 136 was signed into law, amending section 667.5, subdivision (b). (Sen. Bill No. 136 (2019-2020 Reg. Sess.) § 1, effective Jan. 1, 2020).) The sentence enhancement now applies only if the prior prison term was served for a "sexually violent offense as defined in subdivision (b) of Section 6600 of the Welfare and Institutions Code." (§ 667.5, subd. (b).) For defendants with prior prison terms that were not served for a "sexually violent" offense, the one-year enhancement no longer applies. None of appellant's prior prison terms were served for the violation of a "sexually violent offense." His prior prison terms were based, instead, on violations of section 245, subdivision (a)(2) (assault with a firearm), and section 12021, subdivision (a)(1) (unlawful firearm possession). (See CT 36; compare Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6600, sub. (b) [listing sexually violent offenses].)

Under *Estrada*, a court must assume, absent clear evidence to the contrary, that the Legislature intended sentence ameliorating legislation to apply to all defendants whose judgments are not yet final at the time of its passage. (*In re Estrada, supra*, 63 Cal.2d 740, 742; *People v. McKenzie, supra*, 9 Cal.5th 40, 44-45.) "[A]bsent a saving clause, a criminal defendant is entitled to the benefit of a change in the law during the pendency of his appeal." (*People v. Babylon* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 719, 722.) The *Estrada* rule applies regardless of whether a statutory amendment reduces or completely eliminates a penal sanction. (*People v. McKenzie, supra*, 9 Cal.5th 40, 45; *People v. Rossi* (1976) 18 Cal.3d 295, 301.)

There is no savings clause or other indication that SB 136 was not intended to apply to all non-final cases under *Estrada*. The Court of Appeal here thus assumed, and appellant and Respondent agreed, that SB 136 applies retroactively to all cases not yet final on appeal. (Slip Op. at p. 13.) Numerous lower courts have reached the same conclusion. (*People v. Winn* (2020) 44 Cal.App.5th 859, 871-873; *People v. Bermudez* (2020) 45 Cal.App.5th 358, 378; *People v. Matthews* (2020) 47 Cal.App.5th 857, 864-865; *People v. Lopez* (2019) 42 Cal.App.5th 337.)

Accordingly, this Court should similarly hold that SB 136 applies retroactively to all cases not reduced to a final judgment at the time of its enactment.

C. This Court's Recent Decision In *People v. McKenzie* Demonstrates That An Order Granting Probation Is Not A Final Judgment For Purposes Of *Estrada* Retroactivity.

The key date for purposes of applying ameliorative legislation under *Estrada* is the date of "final judgment." (*People v. McKenzie, supra*, 9 Cal.5th 40, 44 ["If the amendatory statute lessening punishment becomes effective prior to the date the judgment of conviction becomes final then it, and not the old statute in effect when the prohibited act was committed, applies."]; *People v. Rossi, supra*, 18 Cal.3d 295, 304 [the *Estrada* rule "applies to any such proceeding which, at the time of the supervening legislation, has not yet reached final disposition in the highest court authorized to review it."].) A judgment generally becomes final under *Estrada* once the availability of an appeal is exhausted and the time for the filing of a petition for certiorari has expired. (*People v. McKenzie, supra*, 9 Cal.5th 40, 45; *People v. Vieira* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 264, 306; *People v. Kemp* (1974) 10 Cal.3d 611, 614.)

This Court recently held, in *People v. McKenzie, supra*, 9 Cal.5th 40, that where the trial court suspends *both* the imposition and execution of sentence ("imposition of sentence suspended" or "ISS" probation), the defendant can take advantage of ameliorative legislation during the pendency of an appeal from the subsequent revocation of probation. Here, in contrast, the trial court imposed but suspended the execution of the sentence and placed appellant on probation ("execution of sentence suspended" or "ESS" probation). The reasoning of *McKenzie*, however, and the precedents on which it relied, demonstrate that an order granting probation is not a final judgment under *Estrada*, regardless of whether ISS or ESS probation is ordered.

In *McKenzie*, the defendant pleaded guilty to various offenses and enhancements, and the trial court placed him on ISS probation. (People v. McKenzie, supra, 9 Cal.5th 40, 43.) The trial court later revoked probation and imposed a sentence that included "four three-year prior drug conviction enhancements under former [Health and Safety Code] section 11370.2, subdivision (c)." (*Ibid.*) The defendant appealed, and while his appeal was pending, the governor signed Senate Bill No. 180 (2017-2018 Reg. Sess.) ("SB 180"). (Ibid.) SB 180 amended section 11370.2, such that the defendant's prior convictions no longer qualified for the sentence enhancement. (*Ibid.*) Analyzing finality in the context of ISS probation, this Court held that a case is not final under *Estrada* until the ability to appeal the order revoking probation has expired. (Id. at pp. 44-52.) This Court thus affirmed the order of the Court of Appeal, remanding to the trial court to strike the sentence enhancements. (*Ibid.*)

Reaching this conclusion, this Court rejected the Attorney General's reliance on section 1237, subdivision (a), which provides that an "an order granting probation ... shall be deemed to be a final judgment." (*People v. McKenzie, supra*, 9 Cal.5th 40,

46-47.) Based on this language, the Attorney General argued that section 1237 was dispositive of finality under *Estrada*. (*Id.* at p. 46.) This Court concluded, however, that finality under *Estrada* should not be conflated with finality under section 1237, subdivision (a). (*Ibid.*; see *People v. Superior Court* (*Giron*) (1974) 11 Cal.3d 793, 796 [under section 1237, an order granting probation "is 'deemed to be a final judgment' for the limited purpose of taking an appeal therefrom" and "does not have the effect of a judgment for other purposes."]; *People v. Flores* (1974) 12 Cal.3d 85, 94-95 [accord].)

Instead, the "relevant cut-off point under *Estrada* for applying ameliorative amendments is the date the 'judgment of conviction becomes final." (*People v. McKenzie, supra*, 9 Cal.5th 40, 46.) The "phrase 'judgment of conviction" does not refer "only to 'underlying' convictions and enhancement findings, exclusive of sentence." (*Ibid.*) "In criminal actions, the terms 'judgment' and ' "sentence" ' are generally considered 'synonymous' [Citation], and there is no 'judgment of conviction' without a sentence." (*Ibid.*) *Estrada* thus referred to "the cut-off point for application of ameliorative amendments as the date when the 'case[],' [Citation] or 'prosecution[]' is 'reduced to a final judgment."" (*Ibid.*) Accordingly, if legislation is enacted while an appeal from the revocation of probation is pending, it "cannot be said that [the] criminal prosecution or proceeding concluded before the ameliorative legislation took effect." (*Ibid.*)

Even more importantly in the context of the instant case, however, this Court observed that the above conclusion was

consistent with the reasoning of *People v. Chavez, supra*, 4 Cal.5th 771. (*People v. McKenzie, supra*, 9 Cal.5th 40, 46-47.) In *Chavez*, the defendant completed probation and then, four years later, sought to have the action dismissed under section 1385. (*People v. Chavez, supra*, 4 Cal.5th 771, 777.) This Court held that the trial court lacked "the power to dismiss" after the defendant "completed his probation," because there was no longer an action to dismiss. (*Ibid.*)

Chavez, however, and as relevant here, "expressly rejected the argument" that a "criminal action terminates' when 'the court orders a grant of probation." (*People v. McKenzie, supra*, 9 Cal.5th 40, 47.) Instead, the "criminal action' — and thus the trial court's jurisdiction to impose a final judgment — 'continues into and throughout the period of probation' and expires only 'when th[e] [probation] period ends.' [Citation.]" (*Ibid*. [Modifications in Original.].)

Reaching this conclusion, this Court observed that "neither forms of probation – suspension of the imposition of sentence [ISS probation] or suspension of the execution of sentence [ESS probation] – results in a final judgment." (*People v. Chavez*, *supra*, 4 Cal.5th 771, 781.) When ISS probation is ordered, the court "pronounces no judgment at all, and a defendant is placed on probation with 'no judgment pending against [him]."" (*Ibid*.) When ESS probation is ordered, "the sentence constitutes 'a judgment provisional or conditional in nature."" (*Ibid*.) Therefore, for *both* ISS and ESS probation, the "finality of the sentence 'depends on the outcome of the probationary proceeding' and 'is not a final judgment' at the imposition of sentence and order to probation." (*Ibid.*) "Instead of a final judgment, the grant of probation opens the door to two separate phases for the probationer: the period of probation and the time thereafter." (*Ibid.*)

As this Court explained, ISS and ESS probation orders are not final judgments because "[d]uring the probation period," the trial court "retains the power to revoke probation and sentence the defendant to imprisonment." (*People v. Chavez, supra*, 4 Cal.5th 771, 782.) The trial court also has the discretion to modify the terms of probation. (*Ibid.*) Specifically, pursuant to section 1203.3, subdivision (a), "[t]he court shall have authority *at any time during the term of probation* to revoke, modify, or change its order of suspension of imposition or execution of sentence." (Emphasis Added.) Further, pursuant to section 1203.2, subdivision (c), "the court may decide to revoke release, terminate probation, and order that the person be delivered to custody." (*People v. Chavez, supra*, 4 Cal.5th 771, 782.) Thus, "the court's power to punish the defendant, including by imposing imprisonment, continues during the period of probation." (*Ibid.*)

"Once probation ends, however, a court's power is significantly attenuated. Its power to impose a sentence over the defendant ceases entirely—a result embodying the ideal that a court may not dangle the threat of punishment over a former probationer indefinitely." (*People v. Chavez, supra*, 4 Cal.5th 771, 782.) "What is more, the court at that point may no longer revoke or modify its order granting probation." (*Ibid.*) "In particular,

the court cannot extend the term of probation, change its conditions, or otherwise subject the defendant to punishment in lieu of the successfully completed probation." (*Id.* at p. 783.)

Chavez thus "confirm[ed] that a criminal proceeding ends only once probation ends if no judgment has issued in the case." (*People v. McKenzie, supra*, 9 Cal.5th 40, 47.) *Chavez* is thus consistent with prior decisions distinguishing section 1237 finality from finality for other purposes, including *Estrada*. (*Id.* at pp. 47-48; see *People v. Superior Court (Giron), supra*, 11 Cal.3d 793, 796; *People v. Flores, supra*, 12 Cal.3d 85, 94.)

This Court thus rejected the argument that, "because defendant failed to appeal from the order granting probation he may not benefit from ameliorative amendments that took effect long after the time for taking an appeal from that order lapsed." (*People v. McKenzie, supra*, 9 Cal.5th 40, 48.)

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