No. S262551

**In the Supreme Court of the State of California**

---

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,  
*Plaintiff and Respondent,*  
v.  
RANDOLPH STEVEN ESQUIVEL,  
*Defendant and Appellant.*

---

Second Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. B294024  
Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. NA102362  
The Honorable Jesus "Jesse" I. Rodriguez, Judge

---

**ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

---

XAVIER BECERRA (SBN 118517)  
*Attorney General of California*  
LANCE E. WINTERS (SBN 162357)  
*Chief Assistant Attorney General*  
SUSAN SULLIVAN PITHEY (SBN 180166)  
*Senior Assistant Attorney General*  
MICHAEL R. JOHNSEN (SBN 210740)  
*Supervising Deputy Attorney General*

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

**4. Treating an imposed but suspended sentence as the source of a final judgment for *Estrada* purposes is consistent with the goals of the different forms of probation**

The different approaches of the two forms of probation also support the conclusion that suspended sentences are final. The reason for imposing and suspending a sentence is to emphasize the definite and concrete consequences of violating probation. The Judicial Council, explaining the significance of suspending execution of a sentence during probation in the California Judges Benchbook, drives this point home:

JUDICIAL TIP: When the court imposes sentence and suspends its execution, it should inform the defendant that if he or she violates the terms and conditions of probation and formal revocation of probation results, the court will have no discretion to incarcerate the

defendant for any term less than the term just imposed. This statement will *underscore the importance of the defendant's compliance* with the terms of probation *and the irreversible consequences of noncompliance*.

(Cal. Judges Benchbook: Misdemeanor Sentencing (CJER 2012) § 75.53, italics added; see *People v. Martin* (1943) 58 Cal.App.2d 677, 678-679 [when suspending execution of sentence, trial court told defendant, “you have a suspended sentence to Tehachapi hanging over your head. If you violate any of the terms of your probation, that is where you are going to go. Now, do you understand that distinctly?”]; cf. 1RT A14 [trial court telling Esquivel here, “Even if I’m not around, there is no other judge that has the option or discretion to strike it and simply give you a better sentence. The five years have been imposed and stayed.”].)

In other words, by imposing and suspending a sentence, the trial court tells a defendant that violating probation will result in “irreversible consequences.” Telling defendants that these “irreversible consequences” can actually be reversed if the Legislature passes a new law—allowing them to escape from a sentence that is supposed to be “hanging over” their heads—would tend to undermine this message.

In short, a probationer with a suspended sentence (like Esquivel) is in a substantially different position from a probationer with no sentence whatsoever (like *McKenzie*). By imposing a sentence, the judge has decided to send a message about the importance of complying with the terms of probation. Indeed, even the victims in suspended execution cases—who have a right to appear at sentencing—have already been given a

certain degree of closure. Reopening such a case would therefore work a harm on them that is unlike the issues faced by victims in suspended imposition cases, who know that the matter is still ongoing. (See *People v. Green* (2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 360, 378, quoting § 1191.1 [victims “have the right to appear . . . at the sentencing proceeding and to reasonably express . . . their views concerning the crime, the person responsible, and the need for restitution.”]; Cal. Const., art. I, § 28, subd. (a)(6) [addressing victims’ rights].)

**5. This Court’s recent decisions in *Chavez* and *McKenzie* do not compel a contrary conclusion**

Until very recently, the lower courts have also agreed that judgment finality occurs in probation cases once the sentence has been imposed and becomes final, even if its execution is suspended. (See *Barboza, supra*, 21 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1318-1319 [otherwise retroactive Proposition 57 relief not available because trial court imposed judgment and suspended execution when granting probation]; *People v. Superior Court (Rodas)* (2017) 10 Cal.App.5th 1316, 1326 [rejecting 2015 relief request where defendant “did not appeal the court’s order granting probation [in 2007],” so “the judgment of conviction . . . became final for retroactivity purposes in 2007”]; *Amons, supra*, 125 Cal.App.4th at p. 868 [new sentencing rules announced in *Blakely v. Washington* (2004) 542 U.S. 296 did not apply retroactively to defendant whose sentence was imposed but execution suspended during probation].)

Following this Court’s decisions in *McKenzie, supra*, 9 Cal.5th 40 and *Chavez, supra*, 4 Cal.5th 771, however, several Courts of Appeal have held that imposed-but-suspended sentences do not become final for *Estrada* purposes under the ordinary rules of court. (E.g., *France, supra*, 58 Cal.App.5th at p. 730 [relying on *McKenzie, supra*, 9 Cal.5th 40, in holding that an imposed-but-suspended sentence does not become final]; *People v. Martinez* (2020) 54 Cal.App.5th 885 [same], review granted Nov. 10, 2020, S264848; *People v. Conatser* (2020) 53 Cal.App.5th 1223, 1225 [same], review granted Nov. 10, 2020, S264848; *People v. Contreras* (2020) 53 Cal.App.5th 965, 967 [same], review granted Nov. 10, 2020, S264721.) Neither *McKenzie* nor *Chavez* compels this conclusion.

In *McKenzie*, the trial court suspended imposition of sentencing and placed the defendant on probation. (*McKenzie, supra*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 43.) No sentence was imposed until he violated probation almost two years later. (*Ibid.*) The defendant then filed an appeal two weeks after the sentence was imposed. (*Ibid.*)

This Court ultimately held that the original order granting probation was not a final judgment, and the appeal two weeks after sentencing was therefore timely. (*McKenzie, supra*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 45.) In doing so, the Court followed the rationale described above: “In criminal actions, the terms ‘judgment’ and ‘sentence’ are generally considered ‘synonymous’” [citation], and there is no ‘judgment of conviction’ without a sentence [citation].” (*Id.* at p. 47.) Since no sentence had been imposed until after the

defendant violated probation, this meant that there was no judgment to become final.

Here, of course, more than “an order granting probation” was entered. While orders granting probation are “deemed to be a final judgment,” they are only considered such “for the limited purpose of taking an appeal therefrom.” (*McKenzie, supra*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 47, quotation marks omitted.) By contrast, an imposed sentence is not merely “deemed” a judgment. It is a judgment by its nature, and must therefore be considered a judgment for *all* purposes. (See *Phillips, supra*, 17 Cal.2d at p. 58.) Nothing about *McKenzie* is inconsistent with the principle that an imposed-but-suspended sentence is a final judgment.<sup>10</sup>

*Chavez* presents a different issue, because it involved a different factual background. In that case, the defendant asked the trial court to dismiss a count in the furtherance of justice under section 1385 four years after completing probation, and nearly nine years after the original conviction. (*Chavez, supra*, 4 Cal.5th at p. 777.) In other words, he sought dismissal long after all aspects of the case had been completed.

---

<sup>10</sup> Esquivel cites two other, similar opinions issued by this Court. (See OBM 17, 20, citing *People v. Superior Court (Giron)* (1974) 11 Cal.3d 793, 796 and *People v. Flores* (1974) 12 Cal.3d 85, 94-95.) Both *Giron* and *Flores* considered defendants who had not been sentenced. That is, they were similar to *McKenzie*: sentencing was suspended, so no sentence had been imposed, and there was no judgment to become final. (*Giron, supra*, 11 Cal.3d at p. 796; *Flores, supra*, 12 Cal.3d at pp. 94-95.)

The Court never addressed ameliorative sentencing statutes in *Chavez*.<sup>11</sup> However, in the course of explaining that the case could not be dismissed under section 1385 because the judiciary lacked fundamental jurisdiction once all aspects of a case had been completed (*Chavez, supra*, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 779-784), the Court briefly discussed the two types of probation cases:

Going as far back as *Stephens v. Toomey* (1959) 51 Cal.2d 864, we have explained that neither forms of probation—suspension of the imposition of sentence or suspension of the execution of sentence—results in a final judgment.

(*Id.* at p. 781.) As described above, though, *Stephens v. Toomey* does not go quite so far.

*Stephens v. Toomey* says that a judgment has not become final “if there still remains some legal means of setting it aside.” (*Stephens v. Toomey, supra*, 51 Cal.2d at p. 869.) But other subsequent cases have specified that “final” means “the availability of appeal [has been] exhausted,” (*Kemp, supra*, 10 Cal.3d at p. 614), and that an imposed-but-suspended sentence cannot be altered once the time for appeal has expired (*Howard,*

---

<sup>11</sup> Esquivel objects that various cases relied upon throughout this brief are irrelevant because they did not consider *Estrada* retroactivity, and “cases are not authority for propositions not considered.” (OBM 31, quoting *People v. Ault* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1250, 1268, fn. 10; see OBM 28-29 [dismissing *Howard, supra*, 16 Cal.4th 1081, as “unrelated to finality under *Estrada*”] OBM 29-32 [arguing that “finality under *Estrada* was not relevant in *Scott,*” *supra*, 58 Cal.4th 1415, so “reliance on *Scott* is misplaced”].) However, while Esquivel relies heavily upon *Chavez* in the opening brief (see OBM 18-23), *Chavez* also does not concern *Estrada* retroactivity.

*supra*, 16 Cal.4th at p. 1087). In other words, once the sentence can no longer be altered under *Howard*, there is no “legal means of setting it aside” under *Stephens v. Toomey*.

*Chavez* also observed that, “[i]n the case where the court suspends execution of sentence, the sentence constitutes ‘a judgment provisional or conditional in nature.’” (*Chavez, supra*, 4 Cal.5th at p. 781, quoting *Stephens v. Toomey, supra*, 51 Cal.2d at pp. 870-871.) But the type of conditionality that a suspended-execution case involves should not affect finality of the judgment. The conditionality—either revocation or successful completion of probation—only affects the “order made after judgment” to suspend execution. (*Perez, supra*, 23 Cal.3d at p. 549, fn. 2.) Either that suspension will continue or it will be lifted. But the “conditional” aspect of the case does not affect the sentence: that judgment *cannot* be modified. (*Howard, supra*, 16 Cal.4th at p. 1087.)<sup>12</sup>

Indeed, a closer reading of *Stephens v. Toomey* shows it to be even more indicative of finality. It held that, “[i]f no appeal is taken *the judgment becomes final* and is effective for all purposes during probation except that incarceration is prevented by reason of the stay order . . . .” (*Stephens v. Toomey, supra*, 51 Cal.2d at p. 870, italics added.) Such a broad rule would answer the issue

---

<sup>12</sup> Relying upon “conditionality” also proves too much. Even when a case is reduced to final judgment, it is still “conditional” in some sense because a defendant may often obtain some form of postconviction resentencing or other relief, resulting in the “reopening” of a judgment. (See *People v. Padilla* (2020) 50 Cal.App.5th 244, 253, review granted Aug. 26, 2020, S263375.)

presented in the current case: a suspended sentence “becomes final.”

The Court did not stop there, though, because it was not concerned with criminal sentencing, or ameliorative statutes, or *Estrada* retroactivity. Rather, it was concerned with the constitutional rules governing felon disenfranchisement. (*Stephens v. Toomey, supra*, 51 Cal.2d at p. 869 [“petitioner seeks to enforce his right to vote while confronted with . . . the Constitution of the State of California which reads in part: ‘(N)o person convicted of any infamous crime . . . shall ever exercise the privileges of an elector in this State.’”].) And, because section 1203.4 permitted the court to “expunge” the conviction and dismiss the case—treating the conviction as though it never occurred—a suspended sentence was “not a final judgment *such as to render the prohibitive measure of the Constitution effective.*” (*Id.* at p. 870, italics added.)

At the time *Stephens v. Toomey* was decided, expungement under section 1203.4 expressly “released [a defendant] from all penalties and disabilities resulting from the offense or crime of which he has been convicted.” (*Meyer v. Board of Medical Examiners* (1949) 34 Cal.2d 62, 64; accord, *Stephens v. Toomey, supra*, 51 Cal.2d at p. 870.) In other words, the judgment was “final and . . . effective for all purposes during probation” (*Stephens v. Toomey, supra*, 51 Cal.2d at p. 870), and was only non-final for the purposes of evaluating “penalties and disabilities” like disenfranchisement (*ibid.*). So the broad language in *Stephens v. Toomey*, as cited by *Chavez*, does not

make a judgment non-final for the purposes of evaluating whether a court has the power to alter some component of the sentence itself. I.e., it does not make a judgment non-final for the purposes of *Estrada* retroactivity. As *Howard* made clear, no power to modify an imposed sentence exists once the time for appeal has passed. (*Howard, supra*, 16 Cal.4th at pp. 1087-1088.)

In short, it is certainly true that “a grant of probation is not a final order under *Estrada*.” (OBM 21.) But where the trial court imposes a sentence, it does more than merely grant probation. It imposes a judgment. Neither *Chavez* nor *McKenzie* nor *Stephens v. Toomey* supports Esquivel’s argument that such a judgment does not become final by operation of the ordinary procedural rules.

## **II. EVEN IF SENATE BILL 136 APPLIED TO ESQUIVEL, THE PROPER REMEDY WOULD BE TO RETURN THE PARTIES TO THE STATUS QUO ANTE**

Even if Esquivel’s judgment did not become final for purposes of *Estrada* when the time to appeal his sentence expired, he still would not be entitled to automatic reduction of his sentence as he contends.

“The *Estrada* rule only answers the question of *whether* an amended statute should be applied retroactively. It does not answer the question of *how* that statute should be applied.” (*Stamps, supra*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 700; see also *id.* at p. 705 [section 1016.8, providing that “a plea agreement does not have the effect of insulating [the parties] from changes in the law that the Legislature has intended to apply to them,” confirms only that a

new law may affect a plea bargain, but does not speak to remedy].) As the Court recently made clear in *Stamps*, the remedy is not to unilaterally “whittle down” Esquivel’s punishment, which was the result of a negotiated disposition. Instead, the remedy should be to remand the case and allow the prosecutor to either accept such a reduction or to withdraw from the plea agreement. (See OBM 34-40 [arguing that the Court should remand for the trial court to simply strike the enhancements].)

**A. Plea bargains are governed by the basic principles of contract law**

“Because a ‘negotiated plea agreement is a form of contract,’ it is interpreted according to general contract principles.” (*Segura, supra*, 44 Cal.4th at p. 930.) “Acceptance of the agreement binds the court and the parties to the agreement.” (*Ibid.*, citing *People v. Armendariz* (1993) 16 Cal.App.4th 906, 910-911; *People v. Woodard* (1982) 131 Cal.App.3d 107, 110.) “When a guilty or nolo contendere plea is entered in exchange for specified benefits such as the dismissal of other counts or an agreed maximum punishment, *both* parties . . . must abide by the terms of the agreement.” (*Segura, supra*, 44 Cal.4th at pp. 930-931, brackets omitted, quoting *People v. Panizzon* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 68, 80.) In other words, “the concept of *reciprocal benefits*” is “critical to plea bargaining.” (*People v. Collins* (1978) 21 Cal.3d 208, 214, italics added.) “When either the prosecution or the defendant is deprived of benefits for which it has bargained,” it will be entitled to some form of relief. (*Ibid.*)

The court must also adhere to the agreement: once a plea is accepted by the parties and approved by the court, the court may not proceed other than as specified in the plea. (§ 1192.5; *Stamps, supra*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 700.)

“A plea agreement is, in essence, a contract between the defendant and the prosecutor to which the court consents to be bound. Should the court consider the plea bargain to be unacceptable, its remedy is to reject it, not to violate it, directly or indirectly. Once the court has accepted the terms of the negotiated plea, it lacks jurisdiction to alter the terms of a plea bargain so that it becomes more favorable to a defendant unless, of course, the parties agree.”

(*Id.* at p. 701, citations and alterations omitted.) In other words, a court is prohibited from “unilaterally modifying the terms of the bargain without affording an opportunity to the aggrieved party to rescind the plea agreement and resume proceedings where they left off.” (*Ibid.*, citations and alterations omitted.)

**B. If the bargain is invalidated, the prosecution must have an opportunity to return to the status quo ante**

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